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RELEVANT INTERNATIONAL AND DOMESTIC LAW

International anti-corruption conventions

1 To which international anti-corruption conventions is your 
country a signatory?

The United States is a signatory to and has ratified the Organisation 
for Economic Co-operation and Development Anti-Bribery Convention 
(the OECD Convention), the Organization of American States’ (OAS) 
Inter-American Convention against Corruption, and the United Nations 
Convention against Corruption (UNCAC), all with reservations or 
declarations. The most significant reservations involve declining to 
specifically provide the private right of action envisioned by the UNCAC 
and not applying the illicit enrichment provisions of the OAS Convention.

The United States is also a signatory to the Council of Europe 
Criminal Law Convention (the Criminal Convention), but has not 
ratified it.

Foreign and domestic bribery laws

2 Identify and describe your national laws and regulations 
prohibiting bribery of foreign public officials (foreign bribery 
laws) and domestic public officials (domestic bribery laws).

US law criminalises bribery of foreign and domestic public officials.
The principal US law prohibiting bribery of foreign public officials is 

the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (FCPA), 15 USC sections 78m, 78dd-1, 
78dd-2, 78dd-3 and 78ff, enacted in 1977. The principal law prohibiting 
bribery of domestic federal officials is 18 USC section 201, enacted in 
1962. In addition, each US state has laws criminalising bribery of their 
respective state officials.

There are no implementing regulations for either the FCPA or the 
federal domestic bribery statute, other than the regulations governing 
the Department of Justice’s (DOJ) FCPA opinion procedure, under 
which the DOJ issues non-precedential opinions regarding its intent 
to take enforcement action in response to specific inquiries. (See 28 
CFR Part 80.)

On 3 July 2020, the US Department of Justice (DOJ) and Securities 
and Exchange Commission (SEC) released a second edition of the 
Resource Guide to the US FCPA (the Guide), which the agencies origi-
nally released in November 2012. The Guide summarises the key 
aspects of the FCPA, sets out the agencies’ positions related to inter-
pretation of statutory provisions and relevant legal principles, and 
discusses the agencies' enforcement policies and priorities, including 
as to the requirements and benefits of an effective FCPA compliance 
programme and related controls.

Overall, the second edition of the Guide does not substantially 
change the agencies' positions on the interpretation of the FCPA or their 
enforcement priorities. Rather, the new edition is an update that accounts 
for almost eight years of developments – including some international 

developments – since the original's issuance. As stated in the Guide's 
new Foreword: ‘[a]lthough many aspects of the Guide continue to hold 
true today, the last eight years have also brought new cases, new law, 
and new policies’, including ‘new case law on the definition of the term 
“foreign official” under the FCPA, the jurisdictional reach of the FCPA, 
and the FCPA's foreign written laws affirmative defense’. The Foreword 
notes that the update also ‘addresses certain legal standards, including 
the mens rea requirement and statute of limitations for criminal viola-
tions of the accounting provisions’; ‘reflects updated data, statistics, and 
case examples’; and ‘summarises new policies applicable to the FCPA 
that have been announced in the DOJ’s and SEC’s continuing efforts to 
provide increased transparency’.

Successor liability

3 Can a successor entity be held liable for violations of foreign 
and domestic bribery laws by the target entity that occurred 
prior to the merger or acquisition?

It is a well-established principle of US law that acquiring companies 
generally assume the civil and criminal liabilities of the companies they 
acquire, including liabilities under statutes such as the FCPA and 18 
USC 201(b). US enforcement authorities view successor liability as an 
integral component of corporate law that, among other things, prevents 
companies from avoiding liabilities through reorganisation.

Successor liability does not, however, create liability where none 
existed before. For example, where a company acquires a foreign entity 
that was not previously subject to the FCPA, the acquirer cannot be held 
retroactively liable under the FCPA for improper payments that the 
acquired entity may have made prior to the acquisition- though it could 
face liability for such conduct under applicable foreign laws.

The protection offered by this principle is limited in scope. For 
instance, if the improper conduct continues following the acquisition of 
a company not previously subject to the FCPA, it could create FCPA or 
related criminal liability for the new combined company in the US.

Although there are no failsafe means of avoiding successor liability, 
US enforcement authorities have indicated that companies that consci-
entiously seek to identify, address and remedy FCPA issues at the target 
company – either before or soon after closing – and disclose those 
issues to the authorities, may avoid an enforcement action.

Civil and criminal enforcement

4 Is there civil and criminal enforcement of your country’s 
foreign and domestic bribery laws?

There is civil and criminal enforcement of the FCPA and criminal 
enforcement of 18 USC 201(b).
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Dispute resolution and leniency

5 Can enforcement matters involving foreign or domestic 
bribery be resolved through plea agreements, settlement 
agreements, prosecutorial discretion or similar means 
without a trial? Is there a mechanism for companies to 
disclose violations of domestic and foreign bribery laws in 
exchange for lesser penalties?

Foreign bribery
FCPA enforcement matters involving corporations are most often 
resolved without a trial through plea agreements, civil administra-
tive actions and settlement agreements, such as deferred prosecution 
agreements (DPAs) and non-prosecution agreements (NPAs). As a 
matter of prosecutorial discretion, some investigations or disclosures 
are not pursued. Although still a fairly rare occurrence, an increase in 
the number of individuals prosecuted has resulted in more defendants 
holding out for jury verdicts in recent years, including four in 2019.

The FCPA does not require self-reporting of FCPA violations. 
However, under US securities laws, including the Sarbanes-Oxley 
Act (SOX), corporations are sometimes required to disclose improper 
payments or internal investigations into possible improper payments, 
thereby effectively notifying or reporting to the government. Following 
the enactment of SOX, the number of voluntary disclosures of actual or 
suspected FCPA violations has sharply increased.

Enforcement authorities encourage voluntary disclosure of actual 
or suspected violations and publicly assert that voluntary disclosure, 
and subsequent cooperation with enforcement authorities, may influ-
ence the decision of whether to bring an enforcement action, the scope 
of any government investigation, and the choice of penalties sought to 
be imposed. In short, voluntary disclosure can result in more lenient 
treatment than if the government were to learn of the violations from 
other sources. The benefits of voluntary disclosure, however, are not 
statutorily guaranteed.

In 2016, the DOJ began experimenting with a more formal system of 
incentives to encourage voluntary disclosures. On 5 April 2016, the DOJ 
launched a one-year FCPA enforcement pilot programme that provided 
incentives for companies to self-report potential FCPA-related miscon-
duct. For a company to be eligible to participate, the DOJ required:
• a voluntary self-disclosure ‘prior to an imminent threat of disclo-

sure or government investigation’;
• full cooperation with the DOJ’s subsequent investigation (including 

the disclosure of ‘all facts related to involvement in the criminal 
activity by the corporation’s officers, employees, or agents’);

• the taking of appropriate remediation measures; and
• the disgorgement of all profits resulting from the FCPA violations.

If a company took all these steps, the Fraud Section stated that it 
‘may accord up to a 50 per cent reduction off the bottom end of the 
Sentencing Guidelines fine range’, the entity ‘generally should not 
require appointment of a monitor’ and the DOJ would ‘consider a 
declination of prosecution’. The pilot programme was provisionally 
extended in March 2017 and then revised and made permanent as part 
of an official FCPA Corporate Enforcement Policy addition to the US 
Attorneys’ Manual on 29 November 2017. Of note, the new policy signifi-
cantly strengthens the incentives provided to companies who satisfy 
the self-reporting requirements: instead of a promise that the DOJ will 
‘consider’ a declination, these companies can rely on a ‘presumption’ of 
declination in all cases that do not involve ‘aggravating circumstances’, 
such as misconduct by senior executives, pervasive wrongdoing within 
the company, significant profits stemming from the corruption or crim-
inal recidivism.

Domestic bribery
Domestic bribery charges may also be resolved through plea and settle-
ment agreements based on prosecutorial discretion.

FOREIGN BRIBERY

Legal framework

6 Describe the elements of the law prohibiting bribery of a 
foreign public official.

The FCPA prohibits a covered person or entity from corruptly committing 
any act in furtherance of an offer, payment, promise to pay or authorisa-
tion of an offer, payment or promise of money or anything of value to:
• any foreign official;
• any foreign political party or party official;
• any candidate for foreign political office; or
• any other person acting in an official capacity for or on behalf of a 

foreign government.

The covered person must act while ‘knowing’ that the payment or 
promise to pay will be passed on to one of the above, for the purpose of 
obtaining or retaining business, or directing business to any person via:
• influencing an official act or decision of that person;
• inducing that person to do or omit to do any act in violation of his 

or her lawful duty;
• inducing that person to use his or her influence with a foreign 

government to affect or influence any government act or decision; or
• securing any improper advantage.

See 15 USC sections 78dd-1(a), 78dd-2(a) and 78dd-3(a).

Jurisdiction
Jurisdiction exists over:
• US persons and companies acting anywhere in the world;
• companies listed on US stock exchanges (issuers) and their agents 

and employees; and
• non-US persons and companies, or anyone acting on their behalf, 

whose actions take place in whole or in part while in the territory 
of the US.

Prohibited acts
Prohibited acts include promises to pay, even if no payment is ultimately 
made. The prohibitions also apply to improper payments made indi-
rectly by third parties or intermediaries, even without explicit direction 
by the principal.

Corrupt intent
‘Corrupt intent’, described in the legislative history as ‘connoting an evil 
motive or purpose’, is readily inferred from:
• the circumstances;
• from the existence of a quid pro quo;
• from conduct that violates local law; and
• from surreptitious behaviour.

Improper advantage
Added to the statute following ratification of the OECD Convention, an 
‘improper advantage’ does not require an actual action or decision by 
a foreign official.

Business purpose
A US court has confirmed that the ‘business purpose’ element (to obtain 
or retain business) is to be construed broadly to include any benefit to 
a company that will improve its business opportunities or profitability.
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Definition of a foreign public official

7 How does your law define a foreign public official, and does 
that definition include employees of state-owned or state-
controlled companies?

The FCPA defines a ‘foreign official’ as:

[A]ny officer or employee of or ‘any person acting in an official 
capacity for or on behalf of . . . a foreign government or any 
department, agency, or instrumentality thereof, or of a public 
international organization . . .

This can include part-time workers and unpaid workers, as well as 
anyone acting under a delegation of authority from the government to 
carry out government responsibilities.

With respect to employees state-owned or state-controlled compa-
nies, US courts have held that determining whether an entity is a 
government ‘instrumentality’ for the purposes of the FCPA requires a 
‘fact-specific analysis’. The US Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit, 
the only federal appellate court to have considered the issue, set forth 
a two-part test for making such a determination: An entity is an ‘instru-
mentality’ if it is controlled by the government of a foreign country and 
performs a function that the controlling government treats as its own. 
The court then outlined a list of non-exhaustive factors that ‘may be 
relevant to deciding the issue’.

First, to determine if the government of a foreign country controls 
an entity, courts and juries should look to:
• the government’s formal designation of the entity;
• whether the government has a majority interest in the entity;
• the government’s ability to hire and fire the entity’s principals;
• the extent to which the government profits or subsidises the 

entity; and
• the length of time these indicia have existed.

Second, to determine whether an entity performs a function that the 
government treats as its own, courts and juries should consider:
• whether the entity has a monopoly over the function;
• whether the government subsidises costs associated with the 

entity providing services;
• whether the entity provides services to the public; and
• whether the public and the government perceive the entity to be 

performing a governmental function.

The FCPA also applies to ‘any foreign political party or official thereof or 
any candidate for foreign political office’.

Gifts, travel and entertainment

8 To what extent do your anti-bribery laws restrict providing 
foreign officials with gifts, travel expenses, meals or 
entertainment?

The FCPA criminalises providing ‘anything of value’ – including gifts, 
travel expenses, meals and entertainment – to foreign officials, where 
all the other requisite elements of a violation are met.

In addition, less obvious items provided to ‘foreign officials’ can 
violate the FCPA. These include:
• in-kind contributions;
• investment opportunities;
• subcontracts;
• stock options;
• positions in joint ventures;
• favourable contracts; and
• business opportunities.

The FCPA includes an affirmative defence, however, for reasonable 
and genuine expenses that are directly related to product demonstra-
tions, tours of company facilities or ‘the execution or performance of a 
contract’ with a foreign government or agency. The defendant bears the 
burden of proving the elements of the asserted defence.

Guidance issued by the DOJ and the SEC underscores that anti-
bribery violations require a corrupt intent and states that: '[I]t is difficult 
to envision any scenario in which the provision of cups of coffee, taxi 
fare, or company promotional items of nominal value would ever 
evidence corrupt intent.'

The guidance also notes that, under appropriate circumstances, 
the provision of benefits such as business-class airfare for international 
travel, modestly priced dinners, tickets to a baseball game or a play 
would not create an FCPA violation.

Facilitating payments

9 Do the laws and regulations permit facilitating or ‘grease’ 
payments to foreign officials?

The FCPA permits ‘facilitating’ or ‘grease’ payments to foreign officials. 
This narrow exception applies to payments to expedite or secure the 
performance of ‘routine governmental action[s]’, which are specifically 
defined to exclude actions involving the exercise of discretion. As such, 
the exception generally applies only to small payments used to:
• expedite the processing of permits, licences or other routine 

documentation;
• the provision of utility, police or mail services; or
• the performance of other non-discretionary functions.

Payments through intermediaries or third parties

10 In what circumstances do the laws prohibit payments through 
intermediaries or third parties to foreign public officials?

The FCPA prohibits making payments through intermediaries or third 
parties while ‘knowing’ that all or a portion of the funds will be offered 
or provided to a foreign official. ‘Knowledge’ in this context is statutorily 
defined to be broader than actual knowledge: a person is deemed to 
‘know’ that a third party will use money provided by that person to make 
an improper payment or offer if he or she is aware of, but consciously 
disregards, a ‘high probability’ that such a payment or offer will be made.

The DOJ and the SEC have identified a number of ‘red flags’ – 
circumstances that, in their view, suggest such a ‘high probability’ of 
a payment – and in recent years, the vast majority of FCPA-related 
enforcement actions involve third-party intermediaries.

Individual and corporate liability

11 Can both individuals and companies be held liable for bribery 
of a foreign official?

Both individuals and companies can be held liable for bribery of a 
foreign official. A corporation may be held liable (even criminally) for 
the acts of its employees in certain circumstances, generally where the 
employee acts within the scope of his or her duties and for the corpora-
tion’s benefit. A corporation may be found liable even when an employee 
is not, and vice versa. In recent years, the DOJ has increasingly made 
the prosecution of individuals a cornerstone of its FCPA enforce-
ment strategy.
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Private commercial bribery

12 To what extent do your foreign anti-bribery laws also prohibit 
private commercial bribery?

The FCPA’s Anti-Bribery provisions, 15 USC sections 78dd-1(a), 78dd-2(a), 
78dd-3(a), do not apply to private commercial bribery. However, in negoti-
ated settlements with public companies, US enforcement authorities have 
asserted that the failure to accurately record commercial bribes resulted 
in inaccurate books and records and an inadequate system of internal 
accounting controls in violation of the FCPA’s accounting provisions.

In addition, domestic and foreign commercial bribery may violate 
other federal and state laws. For example, the Travel Act, 18 USC 1952, 
criminalises the use of interstate or foreign travel and the US mail for 
the purpose of engaging in certain specified unlawful activities, including 
state commercial bribery.

Defences

13 What defences and exemptions are available to those accused 
of foreign bribery violations?

The FCPA includes two affirmative defences referred to as ‘local law 
defence’ and the ‘reasonable and bona fide business expenditure defence’.

The local law defence requires the defending party to prove that ‘the 
payment, gift, offer, or promise of anything of value that was made, was 
lawful under the written laws and regulations of the foreign official’s, 
political party’s, party official’s, or candidate’s country’.

The reasonable and bona fide business expenditure defence 
requires the defendant to establish that the expenses are directly related 
to demonstrations of products or services, tours of company facilities or 
‘the execution or performance of a contract’ with a foreign government 
or agency.

In addition, the FCPA includes an exception for ‘facilitating payments’. 
This narrow exception applies to payments to expedite or secure the 
performance of ‘routine governmental action[s]’, which are specifically 
defined to exclude actions involving the exercise of discretion. As such, 
the exception generally applies only to small payments used to expedite 
the processing of permits, licences, or other routine documentation; the 
provision of utility, police or mail services; or the performance of other 
non-discretionary functions.

In addition, common law defences are available consistent 
with US law.

Agency enforcement

14 What government agencies enforce the foreign bribery laws 
and regulations?

Both the DOJ and the SEC have jurisdiction to enforce the anti-bribery 
provisions of the FCPA. The DOJ has the authority to enforce the FCPA 
criminally and, in certain circumstances, civilly. The SEC’s enforcement 
authority is limited to civil penalties and remedies for violations by 
issuers of certain types of securities regulated by the SEC.

Patterns in enforcement

15 Describe any recent shifts in the patterns of enforcement of 
the foreign bribery rules.

The pace of FCPA enforcement has accelerated greatly over the past 15 
years as have the sanctions imposed, with monetary penalties (including 
fines, disgorgement of profits and payment of pre-judgment interest) 
significantly eclipsing those imposed by earlier FCPA settlements. For 
example, from 2005 to 2007, the SEC and DOJ imposed approximately 
US$268 million in FCPA-related corporate penalties, with the average 
combined penalty coming to approximately US$11.15 million. In the 

ensuing 13 years, these figures have skyrocketed, with the agencies 
imposing approximately US$6.47 billion in FCPA-related corporate penal-
ties from 2018 to 2020 to date, bringing the average combined penalty to 
more than US$150.53 million during that time period.

In addition to monetary penalties, companies may be required either 
to retain independent compliance monitors, usually for a period of two to 
three years, or to agree to self-monitor and file periodic progress reports 
with US enforcement agencies for an equivalent length of time. The agen-
cies have also imposed a hybrid approach that requires an abbreviated 
monitoring period, generally ranging from 12 to 18 months, followed 
by a similarly abbreviated period of self-monitoring and self-reporting. 
Companies entering into DPAs or NPAs typically submit to probationary 
periods under these agreements.

Individuals have increasingly been targets of prosecution and have 
been sentenced to prison terms, fined heavily or both. Since 2010, 181 
individuals have been charged with criminal or civil violations of the 
FCPA, and this emphasis by US enforcement authorities on the prosecu-
tion of individuals shows no signs of letting up. On 9 September 2015, 
Deputy Attorney General Sally Yates issued a memorandum entitled 
Individual Accountability for Corporate Wrongdoing to federal prosecu-
tors nationwide detailing new DOJ policies that require a corporation that 
wants to receive credit for cooperating with the government to provide 
‘all relevant facts’ about employees at the company who were involved in 
the underlying corporate wrongdoing.

On 29 November 2018, the DOJ announced important limitations to 
the Yates Memorandum in an effort to address elements of the policy 
that had proven problematic in practice, most significantly the require-
ment that cooperating companies provide information on all individuals 
involved in some way in the underlying misconduct being investigated. 
As revised, the policy, now incorporated into the FCPA Corporate 
Enforcement Policy, requires cooperating corporations to provide infor-
mation relating to individuals who were ‘substantially’ involved in or 
responsible for the misconduct.

SOX has encouraged voluntary disclosures, as has the DOJ’s FCPA 
Corporate Enforcement Policy, which was implemented in part to incen-
tivise such disclosures. A number of cases have arisen in the context of 
proposed corporate transactions, as the due diligence associated with 
such deals frequently surfaces potential FCPA violations. US enforcement 
agencies have also benefited from the cooperation of their counterparts 
overseas; including coordination that has contributed to some of the most 
high-profile DOJ enforcement activities to date. Enforcement agencies’ 
expectations for compliance standards continue to rise, as reflected in 
the compliance obligations imposed on companies in recent settlements.

Prosecution of foreign companies

16 In what circumstances can foreign companies be prosecuted 
for foreign bribery?

A foreign company that is listed on a US stock exchange or raises capital 
through US capital markets, and is thus an ‘issuer’, may be prosecuted 
for violations of the anti-bribery provisions if it uses any instrumentality 
of US commerce in taking any action in furtherance of a payment or other 
act prohibited by the FCPA.

Any foreign person or foreign company, whether or not an ‘issuer’, 
may be prosecuted under the FCPA if it commits (either directly or 
indirectly) any act in furtherance of an improper payment ‘while in the 
territory of the United States’.

Guidance from the DOJ and the SEC also asserts that a foreign 
company may be held liable for aiding and abetting an FCPA violation (18 
USC, section 2, or 15 USC sections 78t(e) and u-3(a)) or for conspiring 
to violate the FCPA (18 USC, section 371), even if the foreign company 
did not take any act in furtherance of the corrupt payment while in the 
territory of the US. In conspiracy cases, the US generally has asserted 
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jurisdiction over all the conspirators where at least one conspirator is an 
issuer, domestic concern or commits a reasonably foreseeable overt act 
within the US.

Sanctions

17 What are the sanctions for individuals and companies violating 
the foreign bribery rules?

Criminal and civil penalties may be imposed on both individuals and 
corporations for violations of the FCPA’s anti-bribery provisions.

Criminal penalties for wilful violations
Corporations can be fined up to US$2 million per anti-bribery violation. 
Actual fines can exceed this maximum under alternative fine provisions 
of the Sentencing Reform Act (18 USC section 3571(d)), which allow a 
corporation to be fined up to an amount that is the greater of twice the 
gross pecuniary gain or loss from the transaction enabled by the bribe.

Individuals can face fines of up to US$100,000 per anti-bribery 
violation or up to five years’ imprisonment, or both. Likewise, under the 
alternative fine provisions of the Sentencing Reform Act, individuals may 
also face increased fines of up to US$250,000 per anti-bribery violation 
or the greater of twice the gross pecuniary gain or loss the transaction 
enabled by the bribe.

Civil penalties
Corporations and individuals can be civilly fined up to US$10,000 per anti-
bribery violation. In addition, the SEC or the DOJ may seek injunctive relief 
to enjoin any act that violates or may violate the FCPA. The SEC may also 
order disgorgement of ill-gotten gains and assess pre-judgment interest. 
In fact, in recent years, disgorgement has become a common compo-
nent of most FCPA dispositions, with the amount disgorged frequently 
exceeding the total value of the civil and criminal fines imposed.

On 5 June 2017, the US Supreme Court issued a unanimous opinion 
in Kokesh v the SEC, holding that the SEC’s imposition of disgorgement 
constitutes a penalty under federal law, as opposed to an ‘equitable 
remedy’, and is therefore subject to a five-year statute of limitations. The 
restriction on the SEC’s ability to seek disgorgement outside of the five-
year window is forcing a shift in the SEC’s enforcement strategies in a 
range of cases, particularly those involving older conduct approaching 
the end of the statute of limitations period or complicated schemes that 
often require substantial resources and time to investigate.

Collateral sanctions
In addition to the statutory penalties, firms may, upon indictment, face 
suspension and debarment from US government contracting, loss of 
export privileges and loss of benefits under government programmes, 
such as financing and insurance. The SEC and the DOJ also generally 
require companies to implement detailed compliance programmes 
and appoint independent compliance monitors (who report to the US 
government) or self-monitor for a specified period in connection with the 
settlement of FCPA matters.

Recent decisions and investigations

18 Identify and summarise recent landmark decisions or 
investigations involving foreign bribery.

The pace of FCPA enforcement has decreased with 21 resolutions in 
2020, as compared to the previous two years, with 34 dispositions in 
2018 and 42 dispositions in 2019. The recent decrease in the number of 
enforcement has been driven by a reduction in the number of resolved 
actions against individuals, from 17 in 2019 to 4 in 2020, with a decrease 
in the number of corporate enforcement actions from 24 in 2019 to 17 in 
2020 to date.

It is likely that the ongoing challenges of covid-19 have affected the 
pace of enforcement activity in 2020 to date though it is also clear that 
the agencies are continuing to adapt and push ongoing FCPA-related 
investigations. The agencies have moved forward with conducting 
remote interviews in some cases, and also are moving forward in some 
instances with in-person interviews – though the conditions for those 
have been the subject of sometimes intensive negotiations between 
the agencies and counsel. 2020 also featured the issuance of the DOJ’s 
first Opinion Procedure Release in almost six years, which addressed 
the relatively low-risk activity of paying a reasonable commercial fee to 
a state-owned bank. Significant corporate settlements with Airbus and 
Goldman Sachs, as well as ongoing litigation in US v Hoskins are among 
several notable developments in 2020 to date.

Airbus
On 31 January 2020, authorities in the United States, the United Kingdom 
and France announced that they had settled corruption-related charges 
with Airbus SE (Airbus). Airbus, an aerospace manufacturer currently 
registered in Leiden, The Netherlands, with its main offices in Toulouse, 
France, agreed to pay almost $4 billion in combined global penalties 
to resolve allegations that the company engaged in schemes around 
the world to bribe government officials, as well as non-governmental 
airline executives, in exchange for lucrative business deals. In addition 
to bribery allegations, Airbus also settled alleged International Traffic 
in Arms Regulations (ITAR) violations with US authorities. In the United 
States, Airbus entered into a DPA with DOJ, agreeing to pay $294,488,085 
(after a credit of up to $1,797,490,796 owed to the French National 
Financial prosecutor (PNF), as described below, for conspiring to violate 
the anti-bribery provisions of the FCPA. Airbus also settled ITAR viola-
tions by agreeing to pay a criminal penalty of $237.7 million under the 
DPA and, as part of a civil forfeiture action, to forfeit a €50 million ($55 
million) bond that was ‘traceable to the proceeds of the ITAR-related 
conduct’. The FCPA violations focused on business in China, whereas 
the ITAR violations covered conduct with business partners in Ghana, 
Indonesia, Vietnam, Austria and Lebanon (covering contracts in multiple 
other countries). In addition, Airbus reached a $10 million settlement 
with the US State Department to resolve ITAR violations (of which $5 
million has been suspended and reserved for corporate compliance 
improvements). With respect to the FCPA violation, according to the 
US DPA, Airbus admitted that between approximately 2008 and 2015, 
through its employees, executives, and agents, it ‘engaged in and facili-
tated a massive scheme to offer and pay bribes to decision makers and 
other influencers, including foreign officials in multiple countries… to 
obtain improper business advantages’. Although the DPA mentions the 
involvement of foreign officials in ‘multiple countries’, it describes only 
an alleged scheme to provide gifts and hospitality to public officials in 
China. According to the US DPA, the alleged misconduct was part of a 
facilitated effort from several company executives, third-party consult-
ants, the company's Strategy and Marketing Organization (SMO), which 
‘manage[d] Airbus's international business development, strategy, and 
marketing activities outside of its home markets’, and the Company 
Development and Selection Committee (CDSC), which was responsible 
for reviewing proposals concerning the selection of and finalising agree-
ments with third-party ‘Business Partners’ that Airbus used to assist 
with commercial negotiations with private and public customers.

Goldman Sachs
On 22 October 2020, the agencies announced the resolution of the 
long-running FCPA and other legal investigations of Goldman Sachs' 
connections to the Malaysian 1MDB scandal. On the DOJ side, the firm’s 
Malaysian subsidiary pled guilty to conspiracy to violate the FCPA’s 
anti-bribery provisions, and the US parent entered a deferred prosecu-
tion agreement (DPA) and agreed to pay a penalty and disgorgement 
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of over $2.9 billion. The SEC entered a Cease-and-Desist Order with 
Goldman Sachs and the firm agreed to pay a $400 million civil penalty 
and $606.3 million in disgorgement. Goldman Sachs or its affiliates 
also entered resolutions with several other US agencies and authori-
ties in other countries, including the US Federal Reserve, the New York 
State Department of Financial Services, the UK’s Financial Conduct 
Authority and Prudential Regulation Authority, several Singapore enti-
ties including the Attorney General, and the Hong Kong Securities and 
Futures Commission. The firm benefitted from coordinated credits 
among the relevant authorities for payments made to other authorities, 
including in earlier dispositions – for example, the SEC stated in its order 
and press release that the disgorgement ‘shall be deemed satisfied by 
the payment previously made to the Government of Malaysia and 1MDB 
pursuant to a parallel Settlement Agreement entered into by Goldman 
Sachs on August 18, 2020’. Despite discussions by multiple authorities 
of shortcomings in Goldman Sachs' compliance program and internal 
controls, the US agencies did not impose a requirement for an inde-
pendent compliance Monitor.

US v Hoskins
On 8 November 2019, a jury convicted Lawrence Hoskins, a former senior 
executive of French-based Alstom SA (Alstom), of six counts of violating 
the FCPA, three counts of money laundering, and two counts of conspiracy 
for his role in a scheme to pay bribes to secure a $118 million contract in 
Indonesia for a Connecticut-based company and its consortium partner. 
A central question at trial was whether Hoskins, a former Senior Vice 
President at Alstom was acting as an ‘agent’ of Alstom's Connecticut, 
US-based subsidiary, Alstom Power, Inc. (Alstom Power). The jury found 
that Hoskins acted as an agent of Alstom Power in furtherance of the 
scheme to bribe Indonesian officials and convicted him of 11 of the 12 
counts; finding him not guilty on one money laundering count.

On 26 February 2020, Judge Janet Bond Arterton denied Hoskins’ 
motions for acquittal and a new trial on the money laundering charges 
but granted Hoskins’ motion for acquittal and conditionally granted 
Hoskins motion for a new trial on the FCPA charges.

In respect to the motion for acquittal on the agency allegation of 
the FCPA charges, Judge Arterton’s opinion states that agency requires 
three attributes: ‘(1) the manifestation by the principal that the agent 
shall act for him; (2) the agent’s acceptance of the undertaking; and (3) 
the understanding of the parties that the principal is to be in control of 
the undertaking.’ (Docket entry 617, p. 4) (Internal citations and quota-
tions omitted; emphasis in original.) In support of his motion for acquittal, 
Hoskins argued that the government did not present evidence that he 
agreed to act subject to Alstom Power's control or that Alstom Power 
was in control of the undertaking (ie, the hiring of consultants for the 
Indonesia project). Conversely, the government argued that witness testi-
mony and documents proved Hoskins agreed to and performed Alstom 
Power's instructions and that Alstom Power controlled the undertaking.

FINANCIAL RECORD-KEEPING AND REPORTING

Laws and regulations

19 What legal rules require accurate corporate books and 
records, effective internal company controls, periodic financial 
statements or external auditing?

The FCPA, in addition to prohibiting foreign bribery, requires issuers 
to keep accurate books and records and to establish and maintain a 
system of internal accounting controls adequate to ensure account-
ability for assets. Specifically, the accounting provisions require issuers 
to make and keep books, records and accounts that, in reasonable detail, 
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the 
issuers’assets.

Issuers must also devise and maintain a system of internal 
accounting controls that assures that:
• transactions are executed and assets are accessed only in accord-

ance with management’s authorisation;
• accounts of assets and existing assets are periodically 

reconciled; and
• transactions are recorded so as to allow for the preparation 

of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted 
accounting principles standards.

Issuers are strictly liable for the failure of any of their owned or 
controlled foreign affiliates to meet the internal accounting controls 
standards for the FCPA. Where an issuer holds 50 per cent or less of 
the voting power with respect to an affiliate, the issuer must ‘proceed 
in good faith to use its influence, to the extent reasonable under the 
issuer’s circumstances, to cause such domestic or foreign firm to devise 
and maintain a system of internal accounting controls’.

SOX imposes reporting obligations with respect to internal 
controls. Issuer chief executives and chief financial officers (signa-
tories to the financial reports) are directly responsible for and must 
certify the adequacy of both internal controls and disclosure controls 
andprocedures.

Management must disclose all ‘material weaknesses’ in internal 
controls to the external auditors.

SOX also requires that each annual report contain an internal 
control report and an attestation by the external auditors of manage-
ment’s internal control assessment.

SOX sets related certification requirements (that a report fairly 
presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and operational 
results) and provides criminal penalties for knowing and wilfulviolations.

The securities laws also impose various auditing obligations, 
require that the issuer’s financial statements be subject to external 
audit and specify the scope and reporting obligations with respect to 
such audits.

SOX also established the Public Company Accounting Oversight 
Board and authorised it to set auditing standards.

Disclosure of violations or irregularities

20 To what extent must companies disclose violations of anti-
bribery laws or associated accounting irregularities?

The accounting provisions of the FCPA do not themselves require 
disclosure of a violation. US securities laws do, however, prohibit ‘mate-
rial’ misstatements and otherwise may require disclosure of a violation 
of anti-bribery laws. The mandatory certification requirements of SOX 
can also result in the disclosure of violations.

Prosecution under financial record-keeping legislation

21 Are such laws used to prosecute domestic or foreign bribery?

Although part of the FCPA, the accounting provisions are not limited 
to violations that occur in connection with the bribery of foreign offi-
cials. Rather, they apply generally to issuers and can be a separate and 
independent basis of liability. Accordingly, there have been many cases 
involving violations of the record-keeping or internal controls provi-
sions of the FCPA that are wholly unrelated to foreign bribery.

At the same time, charges of violations of the accounting provisions 
are commonly found in cases involving the bribery of foreign officials. 
In situations in which there is FCPA jurisdiction under the accounting 
provisions but not the anti-bribery provisions, cases have been settled 
with the SEC under the accounting provisions with no corresponding 
resolution under the anti-bribery provisions.
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Sanctions for accounting violations

22 What are the sanctions for violations of the accounting rules 
associated with the payment of bribes?

For accounting violations of the FCPA, the SEC may impose civil penal-
ties, seek injunctive relief, enter a cease-and-desist order and require 
disgorgement of tainted gains. Civil fines can range from either 
US$5,000 to US$100,000 per violation for individuals and US$50,000 to 
US$500,000 per violation for corporations or the gross amount of pecu-
niary gain per violation.

Neither materiality nor ‘knowledge’ is required to establish civil 
liability: the mere fact that books and records are inaccurate, or that 
internal accounting controls are inadequate, is sufficient.

Through its injunctive powers, the SEC can impose preventive 
internal control and reporting obligations.

The DOJ has authority over criminal accounting violations. Persons 
may be criminally liable under the accounting rules if they ‘know-
ingly circumvent or knowingly fail to implement a system of internal 
accounting controls or knowingly falsify any book, record, or account’ 
required to be maintained under the FCPA.

Penalties for criminal violations of the FCPA’s accounting provi-
sions are the same penalties applicable to other criminal violations of 
the securities laws. ‘Knowing and wilful’ violations can result in fines 
of up to US$25 million for corporations and US$5 million for individ-
uals, along with up to 20 years’ imprisonment. Like the anti-bribery 
provisions, however, the accounting provisions are also subject to the 
alternative fine provisions.

Tax-deductibility of domestic or foreign bribes

23 Do your country’s tax laws prohibit the deductibility of 
domestic or foreign bribes?

US tax laws prohibit the deductibility of domestic and foreign bribes. 
See 26 USC section 162(c)(1).

DOMESTIC BRIBERY

Legal framework

24 Describe the individual elements of the law prohibiting 
bribery of a domestic public official.

The domestic criminal bribery statute prohibits:
• directly or indirectly;
• corruptly giving, offering or promising;
• anything of value;
• to a public official; or
• with the intent to influence an official act.

See 18 USC section 201(b)(1).

‘Directly or indirectly’
The fact that an individual does not pay a bribe directly to a public offi-
cial, but rather does so through an intermediary or third party, does not 
allow that individual to evade liability.

‘Anything of value’
‘Anything of value’ can constitute a bribe. Accordingly, a prosecutor 
does not have to establish a minimum value of the bribe to secure 
a conviction. Rather, it is enough that the item or service offered or 
solicited has some subjective value to the public official. The phrase 
'anything of value' has consistently been given broad meaning. For 
example, courts have held that promises of future employment, stocks 
that had no objective value at the time of transfer but were intended 

to have value in the future, and even campaign contributions are 
things of value.

‘Public official’
The recipient may be either a public official or a person selected to be a 
public official (ie, any person nominated or appointed, such as a federal 
judge), as discussed below.

‘Official act’
The prosecutor must prove that the bribe was given or offered in 
exchange for the performance of a specific official act- in other words, a 
quid pro quo. An official act includes duties of an office or position (ie, in an 
official capacity) whether or not statutorily prescribed. For members of 
Congress, for example, an official act is not strictly confined to legislative 
actions (such as casting a vote), but can encompass a congressperson’s 
attempt to influence a local official on a constituent’s behalf.

The Supreme Court has recently narrowed the definition of offi-
cial act, ruling that routine political acts, such as making phone calls, 
arranging meetings and hosting events, do not meet the definition of 
an official act without some accompanying formal exercise of power or 
substantive action.

Scope of prohibitions

25 Does the law prohibit both the paying and receiving of a 
bribe?

In addition to punishing the payment of a bribe, the federal bribery 
statute prohibits public officials and those who are selected to be public 
officials from either soliciting or accepting anything of value with the 
intent to be influenced in the performance of an official act (see 18 USC 
section 201(b)(2)).

Definition of a domestic public official

26 How does your law define a domestic public official, and does 
that definition include employees of state-owned or state-
controlled companies?

The federal bribery statute broadly defines public official to include 
members of Congress, any person ‘selected to be a public official’ (ie, any 
person nominated or appointed, such as a federal judge), officers and 
employees of all branches of the federal government, as well as federal 
jurors. An individual need not be a direct employee of the government 
to qualify as a public official, as the statute includes in its definition ‘a 
person acting for or on behalf of the United States’. The Supreme Court 
has explained this to mean someone who ‘occupies a position of public 
trust with official federal responsibilities’. In the spirit of this expan-
sive definition, courts have deemed a warehouse worker employed at 
a US Air Force base, a grain inspector licensed by the Department of 
Agriculture and an immigration detention centre guard employed by a 
private contractor as falling within the ambit of public official.

Because the bribery statute applies only to the bribery of federal 
public officials, officials of the various state governments are exempt 
from the statute’s reach. However, there are other federal statutory 
provisions that can be used to prosecute bribery of state public offi-
cials, as well as those attempting to bribe them. Specifically, the federal 
mail and wire fraud statutes prohibit the use of the mail system, phone 
or the internet to carry out a ‘scheme to defraud’, which includes a 
scheme to deprive another of ‘honest services’. Under these provi-
sions, state public officials who solicit bribes, and private individuals 
who offer them, can be prosecuted for defrauding the state’s citizens 
of the public official’s honest services (bribery of federal public officials 
can also be prosecuted under the same theory). Another federal statute 
prohibits bribery concerning programs receiving public funds, which 
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encompasses many state government functions and can often be used 
to reach state officials. In addition, the laws of each state also prohibit 
the bribing of state public officials.

Gifts, travel and entertainment

27 Describe any restrictions on providing domestic officials 
with gifts, travel expenses, meals or entertainment. Do the 
restrictions apply to both the providing and the receiving of 
such benefits?

The giving of gifts, travel expenses, meals, or entertainment can impli-
cate a range of US laws. As noted above, each of those things can be 
deemed a “thing of value” and can result in bribery liability if given as 
part of a quid pro quo exchange. Additionally, such gifts are regulated by 
a federal criminal statute applicable to all government officials and by 
regulations promulgated by each branch of government that establish 
specific gift and travel rules for its employees. The criminal gratuities 
statute applies to those who either provide or receive improper gifts, 
while the regulations apply only to the receiving of gifts. However, ethics 
reform legislation enacted in 2007 now makes it a crime for registered 
lobbyists and organisations that employ them to knowingly provide a gift 
to a member of Congress that violates legislative branch ethics rules.

The statutory provision that prohibits the payment and solicita-
tion of gratuities (18 USC section 201(c)) is contained within the same 
section that prohibits bribery (18 USC section 201(b)).

The basic elements of an illegal gratuities violation overlap 
substantially with the elements of bribery, except that a gratuity need 
not be paid with the intent to influence the public official. Rather, a 
person can be convicted of paying an illegal gratuity if he or she gives 
or offers anything of value to the public official ‘for or because of any 
official act’ performed or to be performed by the official. For example, a 
gift given to a senator as an expression of gratitude for passing favour-
able legislation could trigger the gratuities statute, even if the gift was 
not intended to influence the senator’s actions (as it was given after 
the legislation was already passed). There is no requirement that the 
gift actually produce the intended result. The mere act of giving can be 
enough to trigger the statute.

In addition to the federal criminal gratuities statute, each branch 
of government regulates the extent to which its employees may accept 
gifts from outside sources. In effect, these regulations prohibit govern-
ment officials from accepting certain gifts that would otherwise not be 
prohibited by the criminal gratuities statute. With respect to the executive 
branch regulations, employees of any executive branch department or 
agency are prohibited from soliciting or accepting anything of monetary 
value, including gifts, travel, lodging or meals from a prohibited source, 
that is, anyone who does or seeks to do business with the employee’s 
agency, performs activities regulated by the employee’s agency, seeks 
official action by the employee’s agency, or has interests that may be 
substantially affected by the performance or non-performance of the 
employee’s official duties.

Unlike the criminal gratuities statute, which requires some connec-
tion with a specific official act, the executive branch gift regulations can 
be implicated even where the solicitation of a gift from a prohibited 
source is unconnected to any such act. In addition, federal employees 
may not accept gifts having an aggregate market value of US$20 or 
more per occasion, and may not accept gifts having an aggregate 
market value of more than US$50 from a single source in a given year. 
Limited exceptions exist for certain small gifts, such as gifts motivated 
by a family relationship. However, the gift rules are even stricter for 
presidential appointees: under an executive order signed by President 
Obama, and extended by President Trump, executive branch officials 
appointed by the president cannot accept any gifts from registered 
lobbyists, even those having a market value of less than US$20.

Under the Rules of the Senate and House of Representatives, 
members of Congress may not accept a gift (which includes travel or 
lodging) worth US$50 or more, or multiple gifts from a single source 
that total US$100 or more, for a given calendar year. These limits 
also apply to:
• gifts to relatives of a member;
• donations by lobbyists to entities controlled by a member;
• donations made to charities at a member’s request; and
• donations to a member’s legal defence fund.

Importantly, the US$50 gift exceptions are not available to registered 
lobbyists, entities that retain or employ lobbyists, or agents of a foreign 
government (but the foreign government itself may still provide such 
gifts). A member of Congress is wholly prohibited from receiving a gift 
of any kind from a registered lobbyist and their affiliates. In addition, 
members are prohibited from receiving reimbursement or payment in 
kind for travel when accompanied by a registered lobbyist, or for trips 
that have been organised by a lobbyist.

The House of Representatives specifically bars members from 
accepting refreshments from lobbyists in a one-on-one setting. 
Registered lobbyists can face up to a five-year prison term for know-
ingly providing gifts to members of Congress in violation of either the 
House or Senate ethics rules.

Facilitating payments

28 Have the domestic bribery laws been enforced with respect to 
facilitating or ‘grease’ payments?

The domestic bribery statute does not contain an exception for grease 
payments. The statute covers any payment made with the intent to 
‘influence an official act’ and the statutory term ‘official act’ includes 
non-discretionary acts. Courts have held, however, that if an official 
demands payment to perform a routine duty, a defendant may raise an 
economic coercion defence to the bribery charge.

Public official participation in commercial activities

29 What are the restrictions on a domestic public official 
participating in commercial activities while in office?

The extent to which public officials may earn income from outside 
commercial activities while serving as a public official varies by branch 
of government (see 5 USC App 4, sections 501-502).

At present, members of Congress are prohibited by statute from 
earning more than US$28,845 in outside income. Members of Congress 
are also prohibited by statute from receiving any compensation from an 
activity that involves a fiduciary relationship (eg, attorney-client) or from 
serving on a corporation’s board of directors.

With respect to the executive branch, presidential appointees 
subject to Senate confirmation (senior non-career personnel) – such 
as cabinet secretaries and their deputies – are prohibited by execu-
tive order from earning any outside income whatsoever. Senior-level, 
non-career presidential appointees who are not subject to Senate 
confirmation may earn up to US$28,845 in outside income per year and 
may not receive compensation from any activity involving a fiduciary 
relationship.

Career civil servants in the executive branch who are not presi-
dential appointees are not subject to any outside earned income cap. 
However, no executive branch employee – whether a presidential 
appointee or not – may engage in outside employment that would 
conflict with his or her official duties. For example, a civil servant 
working for an agency that regulates the energy industry may not earn 
any outside income from work related to the energy industry.
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Payments through intermediaries or third parties

30 In what circumstances do the laws prohibit payments through 
intermediaries or third parties to domestic public officials?

18 USC 201(b)(1) provides that payments covered by the statute include 
payments that are made ‘directly or indirectly.’ Therefore, the fact that an 
individual does not pay a bribe directly to a public official, but rather does 
so through an intermediary or third party, does not allow that individual 
to evade liability.

Individual and corporate liability

31 Can both individuals and companies be held liable for violating 
the domestic bribery rules?

18 USC 201 (b)(1) provides that ‘[w]hoever’ engages in bribery as defined 
by the law shall be held liable.’ Under the rules of construction provided 
for in 1 USC section 1, ‘whoever’ is defined to include individuals and 
companies or corporations.

Private commercial bribery

32 To what extent does your country’s domestic anti-bribery law 
also prohibit private commercial bribery?

Private commercial bribery is prohibited primarily by various state laws, 
among which there is considerable variation. New York, for example, 
has a broad statute that makes it an offence to confer any benefit on an 
employee, without the consent of his employer, with the intent to influ-
ence the employee’s professional conduct.

While there is no federal statute that specifically prohibits 
commercial bribery, there are a handful of statutes that can be used by 
prosecutors to prosecute commercial bribery cases. First, the mail and 
wire fraud statutes prohibit the use of the mail system, phone or internet 
to carry out a ‘scheme to defraud’, which includes a scheme to deprive 
another of ‘honest services’. A bribe paid to an employee of a corpora-
tion has been classified as a scheme to deprive the corporation of the 
employee’s ‘honest services’, and thus can be prosecuted under the mail 
and wire fraud statutes.

Second, the ‘federal funds bribery statute’ prohibits the payment of 
bribes to any organisation- which can include a private company – that 
in any one year receives federal funds in excess of US$10,000, whether 
through a grant, loan, contract or otherwise.

A federal statute known as the Travel Act makes it a federal crim-
inal offence to commit an unlawful act- which includes violating state 
commercial bribery laws- if the bribery is facilitated by travelling in inter-
state commerce or using the mail system. Thus, if an individual travels 
from New Jersey to New York to effectuate a bribe, that individual can be 
prosecuted under the federal Travel Act for violating New York’s commer-
cial bribery law.

A violation of the Travel Act based on violating a state commercial 
bribery law can result in a prison term of five years and a fine. Finally, 
commercial bribery is also actionable as a tort in the civil court system.

Defences

33 What defences and exemptions are available to those accused 
of domestic bribery violations?

Most commonly, individuals prosecuted under 18 USC 201 challenge 
whether the payments were made with a corrupt intent as opposed to for 
legal purposes, including gaining access to government officials in order 
to lobby for policy or regulatory changes. In addition, and particularly 
after McDonnell, much of the focus of Defendants has been on whether 
the public official took or agreed to take an official act as opposed to 
a ministerial act, such as setting up a meeting or talking with another 

official. In addition, though it is not a defence to argue that the public 
official might have made the same recommendation without the bribe, 
defendants often argue that the things of value were provided without an 
agreement to take any official act.

In addition, a couple affirmative defences are frequently raised. First, 
defendants argue that they were entrapped into committing the violation. 
To rebut this defence, the government must only show that the defendant 
was predisposed to commit the crime. Second, defendants raise the 
argument that the government coerced or pressured them into commit-
ting the violation. This defence requires establishing three elements: 
an immediate threat of death or serious bodily injury, a well-grounded 
fear that the threat will be carried out, and no reasonable opportunity 
to avoid the threatened harm. Finally, with regard to the presentation of 
evidence, the Speech or Debate Clause of the Constitution protects legis-
lators from prosecution for certain legislative acts taken when legislating 
and prevents inquiry into a legislator’s motive and intent. As a result, 
defendants are sometimes thwarted when trying to present exculpatory 
evidence and raise challenges grounded in the Constitutional right to 
present a defence.

Agency enforcement

34 What government agencies enforce the domestic bribery laws 
and regulations?

The Department of Justice is responsible for enforcing 18 USC 201, often 
through its Fraud and/or Public Integrity Sections, and state prosecutors 
are responsible for enforcing the respective state laws.

Patterns in enforcement

35 Describe any recent shifts in the patterns of enforcement of the 
domestic bribery rules.

As discussed in more detail below, although the number of enforcement 
actions has decreased over the past year given the challenges posed by 
the covid-19 pandemic, federal prosecutors continued to successfully 
enforce US domestic and foreign bribery statutes in 2020. In the case of 
domestic bribery enforcement, despite the Supreme Court’s 2016 deci-
sion in McDonnell, which narrowed the definition of ‘official act’, federal 
prosecutors continue to successfully prosecute bribery-related charges. 
In addition to 18 USC 201, federal prosecutors have frequently relied on 
a handful of related statutes to prosecute domestic bribery, such as the 
‘honest services fraud statute’, 18 USC section 1346, and the US Racketeer 
Influenced and Corrupt Organizations (RICO) Act, 18 USC sections 1961-
1968. With respect to FCPA enforcement, although there was a decrease 
in the number of resolved actions against individuals and corporations, 
the SEC and DOJ have continued to emphasise the FCPA through public 
pronouncements.

Prosecution of foreign companies

36 In what circumstances can foreign companies be prosecuted 
for domestic bribery?

18 USC 201 can apply to companies or corporations, including foreign 
companies where the US can establish jurisdiction.

Sanctions

37 What are the sanctions for individuals and companies that 
violate the domestic bribery rules?

Both the provider and recipient of a bribe in violation of 18 USC 201(b) 
can face up to 15 years’ imprisonment per violation. Moreover, either 
in addition to or in lieu of a prison sentence, individuals who violate the 
bribery statute can be fined up to the greater of US$250,000 (US$500,000 
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for organisations) or three times the monetary equivalent of the bribe. 
Under the gratuities statute, 18 USC 201(c), the provider or recipient of 
an illegal gratuity is subject to up to two years’ imprisonment or a fine of 
up to US$250,000 (US$500,000 for organisations), or both.

Senior presidential appointees and members of Congress who violate 
the statute regulating outside earned income can face a civil enforcement 
action, which can result in a fine of US$10,000 or the amount of compen-
sation received, whichever is greater. Government employees who violate 
applicable gift and earned income regulations can face disciplinary action 
by their employing agency or body. Registered lobbyists can face up 
to a five-year prison term for knowingly providing gifts to members of 
Congress in violation of either the House or Senate ethics rules.

Recent decisions and investigations

38 Identify and summarise recent landmark decisions and 
investigations involving domestic bribery laws, including any 
investigations or decisions involving foreign companies.

In the wake of the Supreme Court’s McDonnell decision narrowing of the 
type of conduct that constitutes an official act under the federal bribery 
statute, large-scale public corruption prosecutions have arguably become 
more difficult to pursue. As discussed in past editions, McDonnell vacated 
the conviction of Bob McDonnell, former governor of Virginia, who had 
been charged with multiple counts of conspiracy and ‘honest services’ 
fraud for accepting money and other gifts from a prominent local busi-
nessman in exchange for official acts and the prestige of the governor’s 
office. The court held that for an action to qualify as an ‘official act’ under 
the federal bribery statute, a public official must proactively take an action 
or make a decision on a question or issue that involves a formal exercise 
of governmental power. Setting up a meeting, talking to another official, 
or organising an event – without more – does not rise to the level of an 
official act within the meaning of the statute.

The first major post-McDonnell case resulted in a mistrial, where 
after a two-month trial, a federal jury was unable to come to a unani-
mous decision as to whether Robert Menendez, the New Jersey Senator, 
committed bribery and honest services fraud when he allegedly accepted 
nearly US$1 million from a wealthy Florida donor in exchange for inter-
vening on behalf of the donor’s business and personal interests. In 
January 2018, the DOJ declined to retry Menendez on any remaining 
bribery counts after a federal judge dismissed seven of the 18 charges 
against him, including one count of honest services fraud and three 
counts of bribery.

Similarly, former Pennsylvania congressman Chaka Fattah was 
granted a new trial after the Third Circuit ruled that McDonnell’s redefini-
tion of official act meant that jurors had received improper instructions 
on the government’s burden of proof, and that several of the charged 
acts were not actually unlawful. Fattah had previously been convicted 
in 2016 of accepting a string of bribes in exchange for official favours, 
as well using his position on the House Appropriations Committee to 
secure a US$15 million earmark for a fake advocacy group in exchange 
for paying off a campaign debt. He is currently serving a 10-year sentence 
for related convictions, including money laundering, campaign fraud and 
racketeering, which will not be impacted should the government decide 
to retry Fattah on the bribery counts.

Former New York State Assembly Speaker Sheldon Silver was 
convicted for the second time on charges of bribery, corruption, honest 
services fraud, extortion and money laundering after being granted a 
retrial in the wake of McDonnell. He had first been convicted in 2012 and 
was serving a 12-year sentence when the Second Circuit vacated the 
convictions and ordered a retrial on the grounds that the jury received 
improper instructions regarding the definition of ‘official act’. Silver’s 
second conviction resulted in a seven-year sentence, which he is currently 
appealing. Along with Silver, in 2018, a jury convicted Dean Skelos, former 

Majority Leader of the New York State Senate. In 2019, Skelos appealed his 
conviction, which was denied. Skelos’s prior conviction was vacated and 
remanded for retrial given the Supreme Court’s decision in McDonnell v 
United States, clarifying what constitutes an official act.

Finally, Joseph Percoco, a close aid of New York governor Andrew 
Cuomo, was sentenced to six years in prison for accepting bribes in 
exchange for steering energy and real estate projects to prominent busi-
nessmen in the New York area. Percoco has appealed his conviction on 
grounds that the government failed to meet its burden of proof under 
McDonnell, arguing that prosecutors could not show that he did anything 
more than make various referrals and set up meetings with local busi-
nesspeople. The conviction is the result of a long-standing bribery probe 
by the Manhattan US Attorney’s office into corruption and bid-rigging in 
Governor Cuomo’s office. Juries convicted six other individuals in connec-
tion with the scheme and one person pleaded guilty.

UPDATE AND TRENDS

Key developments of the past year

39 Please highlight any recent significant events or trends related 
to your national anti-corruption laws.

With respect to domestic bribery enforcement, despite the Supreme Court’s 
2016 decision in McDonnell, which narrowed the definition of ‘official act’, 
federal prosecutors continue to successfully prosecute bribery-related 
charges. In addition to 18 USC 201, federal prosecutors have frequently 
relied on a handful of related statutes, such as the ‘honest services fraud 
statute’, 18 USC section 1346, to prosecute domestic bribery.

For example, in August 2020, Greg Lindberg, the founder and 
chairman of Eli Global LLC and the owner of Global Bankers Insurance 
Group, was sentenced to 87 months in prison for his role in an honest 
services wire fraud. Lindberg and his consultant John Gray, who was 
sentenced to 30 months, were convicted of a scheme to pay millions of 
dollars in donations to the North Carolina Insurance Commissioner in an 
attempt to benefit Lindberg’s businesses.

Federal prosecutors have also, on occasion, used the US Racketeer 
Influenced and Corrupt Organizations (RICO) Act to prosecute bribery 
rings. In July 2020, the DOJ charged five individuals, including the Speaker 
of the Ohio House of Representatives, Larry Householder with RICO viola-
tions for honest services wire fraud, in what was described as 'likely the 
largest bribery, money laundering scheme ever perpetrated against the 
people of the state of Ohio'. According to the indictment, between 2017 
and 2020, the criminal enterprise received millions of dollars in exchange 
for help in passing a billion-dollar bailout of power plants in the state.

Enforcement of the FCPA in 2020 was marked by a decrease in the 
number of resolved actions against individuals and corporations, with a 
total of 21 as of 19 November 2020 likely due to challenges posed by the 
covid-19 pandemic. However, the agencies have continued to emphasise 
the FCPA through public pronouncements, including the release of the 
second edition of the Resource Guide to the US FCPA in July 2020. In addi-
tion, the agencies have repeatedly assured the public that they remain 
committed to enforcement and have predicted that the remainder of the 
year will see a spike in enforcement announcements similar to trends in 
previous years.

To that end, perhaps the most significant development in enforce-
ment of bribery and corruption laws in the United States – along with 
the coronavirus pandemic discussed below – may be the election of 
new President Joseph R Biden. By all accounts, white-collar criminal 
prosecutions were down significantly between 2016 and 2020 under 
President Donald J Trump, both in terms of the number of prosecutions 
and the total fines. Many expect prosecutions to rebound under the new 
administration.
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Coronavirus

40 What emergency legislation, relief programmes and other 
initiatives specific to your practice area has your state 
implemented to address the pandemic? Have any existing 
government programmes, laws or regulations been amended 
to address these concerns? What best practices are advisable 
for clients?

The coronavirus pandemic, and the United States Congress’s reaction to 
it, may lead to an increase in prosecutions for fraud and related conduct, 
including bribery. In March 2020, Congress passed the CARES Act, a 
$2.2 trillion stimulus bill. The stimulus included, among other things, 
nearly $700 billion in forgivable loans to small businesses under the 
Paycheck Protection Program and $500 billion in additional aid for 
corporations. Shortly after the stimulus payments began, federal pros-
ecutors started bringing enforcement actions against individuals and 
entities attempting to defraud the large-scale stimulus programme. In 
May 2020, the DOJ charged a Texas man with wire fraud, bank fraud 
and related charges for seeking $5 million from the PPP programme by 
falsely claiming to have 400 employees and an average monthly payroll 
of $2 million. By September 2020, the government had charged more 
than 50 individuals of trying to fraudulently receive $175 million from 
the PPP programme. It is foreseeable that relief-related fraud investi-
gations will include prosecutors’ review of whether individuals sought 
preferable government treatment through the provision of bribes and/
or gratuities to federal officials.

In addition to the stimulus-related prosecutions, federal pros-
ecutors have sought to crack down on securities and healthcare fraud 
scheme stemming from the coronavirus pandemic. In June 2020, the 
DOJ charged Mark Schena, the president of a publicly traded medical 
technology company of healthcare fraud and securities fraud, in the 
first securities fraud prosecution related to the coronavirus pandemic. 
According to the indictment, Schena falsely claimed that his company 
could create covid-19 tests that complied with applicable regulations 
and defrauded investors.
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